
HOLLIS PLANNING BOARD MINUTES 
July 21, 2020 

Final 
 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT:   Bill Moseley – Chairman; Doug Cleveland – Vice 1 

Chairman, Ben Ming, Chet Rogers, Matt Hartnett and David Petry (Ex-Officio for Selectmen) 2 

Alternates: Rick Hardy, Julie Mook 3 

 4 

ABSENT: None 5 

 6 

STAFF PRESENT: Mark Fougere, Town Planner; Evan Clements, Assistant Planner 7 

 8 

THIS MEETING WAS CONDUCTED IN A HYBRID MANNER IN COMPLIANCE WITH 9 

GOVERNOR SUNUNU’S EMERGENCY ORDERS #12, 16, & 17 10 

1. CALL TO ORDER: 7:00 PM.  B. Moseley led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance.   11 

 12 

2. APPROVAL OF PLANNING BOARD MINUTES: 13 

 14 

a. June 2, 2020 Minutes – Motion to approve. Motioned by D. Petry; seconded by R. 15 

Hardy – motion passed unanimously. 16 

b. June 16, 2020 Minutes – Motion to approve. Motioned by R. Hardy; D. Cleveland – 17 

J. Peters abstained – motion passed.   18 

c. June 13, 2020 Site Walk Minutes – Motion to approve. Motioned by D. Petry; 19 

seconded by M. Hartnett – B. Ming, C. Rogers abstained – motion passed   20 

 21 

3. DISCUSSION AND STAFF BRIEFING 22 

a. Agenda Additions and Deletions: 23 

� PB2020-001: 82 Runnells Bridge Road – Mixed Use Dev. was requested by the 24 

applicant to be tabled. Motion to table – Motioned by J. Peters; seconded by C. 25 

Rogers – motioned passed unanimously     26 

b. Committee Reports – none 27 

c. Staff Report – none  28 

d. Regional Impact – none 29 

 30 

4. PLANNING BOARD ELECTIONS 31 

a. Chairman 32 

i. R. Hardy nominated Bill Moseley to continue as Planning Chair; seconded 33 

by J. Peters – no other nominations – Voting – B. Moseley abstained – B. 34 

Moseley confirmed as Planning Chair. 35 

b. Vice-Chairman 36 

i. R. Hardy nominated Dog Cleveland to continue as Planning Vice-Chair; 37 

seconded by M. Hartnett – no other nominations – Voting – D. Cleveland 38 

abstained – D. Cleveland confirmed as Vice Chair. 39 

 40 

5. SIGNATURE OF PLANS  41 

a. PB2020-012: 7 & 7A Main Street Amended Site Plan 42 

i. Motion to authorize the Chair to sign – motioned by D. Cleveland; seconded 43 

by D. Petry – J. Peters abstained –  motion passed  44 

 45 

6. HEARINGS 46 

 47 

a. File PB2020:009 – Design Review - Proposed minor subdivision of an existing 13.4 48 

acre property into four lots, two of which will be back lots served by a private way.  4 49 



              July 21, 2020 

2 

 

Spaulding Lane, Map 8 Lot 48, Applicant & Owner: Etchstone Properties, Inc., Zoned 50 

R&A.  Public Hearing, tabled from June 16. 51 

 52 

M. Fougere stated that the purpose of this proposal is to subdivide an existing 13 acre 53 

parcel into four lots. A private way will be constructed to access three of the four lots. 54 

The existing farmhouse will continue to use the existing driveway access on Spaulding 55 

Lane. He stated that there was notable vegetation along the frontage of the subject 56 

property on Spaulding Lane and most of it will remain undisturbed. Wetlands and a 57 

seasonal stream do exist on the property and the applicant has been working with the 58 

Conservation Commission on a suitable crossing and a design has been approved. He 59 

asked if the Board wanted an engineering review of the site. He also noted that a 60 

$7,500.00 cistern fee will be required for each new home as well as a private way 61 

easement and maintenance agreement. A waiver for three homes being served by a 62 

private way will also be required. The private way will have to be named. 63 

 64 

Jim Petropolis, P.E. with HSI and applicant’s representative began by discussing the 65 

location and features of the subject property. He noted a ditched meadow that runs 66 

through the property. There is an existing farmer’s path the runs from Spaulding Lane to 67 

the rear of the property. The Natural Heritage Bureau was contacted and found no rare or 68 

endangered species on the subject property. The Division of Historical Resources was 69 

also contacted and noted that site development would not impact any historical sites. 70 

 71 

J. Petropolis stated that the proposal was for a four lot subdivision with the creation of 72 

three new buildable lots and one lot for the existing single family residence to remain. 73 

He noted that the current proposal is for the private was to serve the two back lots only 74 

and the new front lot will have driveway access directly from Spaulding Lane. The 75 

private drive will follow the existing farmer’s path. Two 15” culverts were found on the 76 

property and the proposal includes improvements to these two existing culverts. They 77 

will be replaced with 30” culverts. This work will impact 800 SF of wetland requiring 78 

consultation with the Hollis Conservation Commission and a Wetland permit from the 79 

Department of Environmental Services. 80 

 81 

B. Moseley asked about the material used for the culverts. 82 

 83 

J. Petropolis responded that they would use concrete pipe and headwalls. He then stated 84 

that in regards to the Rural Character Ordinance, the two back lots will be unlikely to be 85 

seen from the public right of way. The new front lot has significant vegetation along 86 

Spaulding that will remain. The only clearing that will occur along the frontage will be 87 

to create driveway access to the property. He estimates that 80% of the subject property 88 

will remain untouched and in its natural state. 89 

 90 

C. Rogers asked if lot 3 will have access off on Spaulding Lane or the common drive. 91 

 92 

J. Petropolis responded that the current proposal was for lot 3 being accessed directly 93 

from Spaulding Lane. 94 

 95 

D. Petry asked what the existing elevation change was from Pepperrell Road to the back 96 

corner of the subject property. 97 

 98 

J. Peters stated that it appeared to be between 40’ and 60’ based on the online map he 99 

was using. 100 



              July 21, 2020 

3 

 

J. Petropolis responded that the elevation at the new driveway was 250’ and slightly 101 

higher at Pepperrell Road. The back corner is roughly at an elevation of 305’. He noted 102 

that most of the grade change occurs from Spaulding Lane to the wetland. 103 

 104 

D. Petry asked if J. Petropolis had seen the letter from an abutter at Eastman Lane 105 

raising concerns relating to drainage and the impact this proposed development may 106 

have on their property.  107 

 108 

J. Petropolis responded that he had and noted that Etchstone Properties generally design 109 

their gutter systems to infiltrate directly into the ground. He noted that the applicant is 110 

aware that this backland area is subject to seasonal high water, all of Spaulding farm has 111 

been that way. Based on some initial research before the meeting, J. Petropolis noted 112 

that this proposal will have some minor contribution to water to the east but most of the 113 

flows in the larger area are moving easterly away from the abutter’s property. He noted 114 

that the Nichol’s Trust land is a large flat wetland that contributes most of the flows in 115 

this area in a southeasterly direction towards Sucker Brook. He did note that the most 116 

significant challenge this project will face is Stormwater management. 117 

 118 

D. Petry did note for informational purposes that there are RSAs that require new 119 

developments to not contribute additional flows onto surrounding properties. 120 

 121 

R. Hardy did note that development does have a cumulative impact on neighborhood 122 

Stormwater management and that this landform is the same as the very wet area starting 123 

at Merrill Lane and moving southeasterly to Spaulding Lane. He noted that the Board 124 

has received conflicting information about the nature of wetlands and test pits in the 125 

area. He stated that the Board may want a third party soil scientist to be involved to 126 

confirm relevant information. He did note that the surrounding area is conservation land 127 

with no provisions in place to clean out the drainage ways. This could contribute to the 128 

increase in flows the neighborhood has experienced throughout the years.   129 

 130 

D. Cleveland asked if a site walk would be of interest to the Board. R. Hardy stated that 131 

he thought that would be a good idea. 132 

 133 

J. Peters noted that the proposed subdivision plan states that the subject area is 13.4 134 

acres but the NRPC maps shows the subject parcel is at 12.1 acres. He asked to clarify 135 

the discrepancy.  136 

 137 

J. Petropolis responded that he surveyed the site and the subject parcel is in fact 13.4 138 

acres. 139 

 140 

C. Rogers asked if the shared driveway counted towards the total area of the back lots.  141 

 142 

J. Petropolis responded that it was as each back lot needed 20’ of frontage to be legal. 143 

The shared drive travels up the middle of each lot.  144 

 145 

Public Hearing 146 

 147 

Kevin Anderson; 42 Spaulding Lane – endorsed the Board to take a site walk and 148 

wanted particular attention to the number of driveways entering on Spaulding Lane for 149 

this proposal i.e. the existing driveway, the common drive, and the new driveway for lot 150 

3. He raised concerns relating to the soil and wetland surveys as well as Stormwater 151 



              July 21, 2020 

4 

 

management. He asked if the application was deemed complete and accepted by the 152 

Board and if all abutters were properly notified. He stated that his neighbors have asked 153 

him to monitor the proceedings of this proposal as it progresses.  154 

 155 

B. Moseley stated that the application was not accepted since it was in Design Review. 156 

 157 

Joe Garruba; 28 Winchester Drive – made out of order comments unrelated to the 158 

proposal. Asked if the contour was done at 2’ intervals and if the Conservation 159 

Commission concerns were addressed. 160 

 161 

R. Hardy stated that the contours were shown on page 6 of the plan set. 162 

 163 

E. Clements stated that the abutters were properly notified by certified mail when the 164 

application first came to the Board in March. The abutters were sent a second mailing by 165 

first class mail when the proposal was going to be heard at this meeting since it was 166 

tabled since March. 167 

 168 

Chris & Lisa Getter; 35 Eastman Lane – asked that during the site walk the Board take 169 

particular note of the soil conditions of their property in addition to the subject property. 170 

Gave permission for the Board to come on to their property. Raised concerns of new 171 

water coming onto their property. Asked about procedural matters and how this proposal 172 

will be approved. 173 

 174 

B. Moseley stated that the project was before the Board in Design Review, once the 175 

Board was satisfied the applicant would submit a formal application for Final Review. 176 

 177 

M. Fougere clarified that he spoke to the Conservation Commission Chair last week and 178 

he verified that the applicant altered their common drive design to reduce the wetland 179 

impact and the Commission is satisfied with the new plan. 180 

 181 

Public Hearing closed 182 

 183 

The Board requested the following items be identified for the site walk: 184 

� Lot lines 185 

� Centerline for driveway 186 

� Wetland buffer 187 

� Wellhead 188 

� Center of building box 189 

� Septic 190 

 191 

D. Cleveland noted that since the common drive would only be servicing two lots then 192 

the common drive waiver does not apply. 193 

 194 

Motion to table until the August 18 meeting – Motioned by D. Petry; seconded by C. 195 

Rogers – motion passed unanimously   196 

 197 

 198 

 199 

b. File PB2020:018 - Proposed amendment to an approved Site Plan to replace 675 square 200 

foot office space with one apartment, Map 53 Lot 35, 22 Ash Street, Owner/Applicant 201 



              July 21, 2020 

5 

 

Athollis88, LLC, Zoned AB Agriculture/Business.  Application Acceptance & Public 202 

Hearing. 203 

 204 

M. Fougere outlined the proposal by stating that this was a site plan amendment to 205 

convert an office unit and storage space within 22 Ash Street into a 1 bedroom 206 

apartment. The first floor apartment will be 670 SF and bring the total dwelling units on 207 

the property to three. The restaurant operation located on the first floor will remain and 208 

the foot print of the building will not change. There are 11 parking stalls to the east of 209 

the building and 10 parking stalls to the rear of the building. 11 parking stalls are 210 

required by regulation. The total livable area of the building is 4,621 SF. Residential use 211 

cannot exceed 50% or in this case is 2,310 SF. The total residential area including the 212 

proposed dwelling unit is 1,996 SF. 213 

 214 

Motion to accept application – Motioned by D. Cleveland; seconded by J. Peters – 215 

motion passed unanimously 216 

 217 

Alan Wentzell, applicant and owner of 22 Ash Street noted that the area to be converted 218 

to a dwelling was occupied by a small business that lasted about a year but with the 219 

current COVID-19 challenges they moved on. He also stated that it has been hard to find 220 

a new tenant for the office space as there is a lot of office space available for rent in the 221 

area. He stated that the dwelling unit would be more marketable and he needs the 222 

income to supplement the property. A septic plan was submitted and reviewed by the 223 

Town Septic Inspector that shows that the system can support the additional dwelling 224 

unit.   225 

 226 

D. Petry asked what the septic system was currently approved for. 227 

 228 

M. Fougere stated that a septic system is rated by gallons per day of effluent and that E. 229 

Clements discussed the change of use with the Septic Inspector and it was found that the 230 

existing system will still be in compliance.  231 

 232 

D. Petry asked if there was still a plan to build a pizza oven out back. 233 

 234 

A. Wentzell stated that was the plan of a previous property owner and he did not intend 235 

to pursue that idea. 236 

 237 

D. Cleveland asked about the layout of the proposed apartment. 238 

 239 

A. Wentzell stated that from the entrance there would be a mudroom with the bathroom 240 

near that area. The living room will be to the left and straight down a hallway will be the 241 

kitchen. Past the kitchen where the old barbershop/salon will be the bedroom. 242 

 243 

Public Hearing 244 

 245 

Joe Garruba; 28 Winchester Drive – made further out of order comments unrelated to the 246 

application.  247 

 248 

Public Hearing closed 249 

 250 

E. Clements brought up the potential for a waiver of the 30 day waiting period that the 251 

applicant may wish to request. He stated that he knew that the applicant had a pending 252 



              July 21, 2020 

6 

 

building permit application that would be further delayed by the waiting period. He 253 

stated that if the applicant wanted to waive the 30 day waiting period he would be 254 

proceeding at his own risk as an appeal for his application can still be submitted. 255 

 256 

A. Wentzell stated that he would like to request the waiver from the 30 day waiting 257 

period and understood that he would be proceeding at his own risk. 258 

 259 

J. Peters did not think approving the waiver was appropriate due to the Zoom platform 260 

and COVID-19 issues. 261 

 262 

E. Clements asked J. Peters to clarify his concerns. 263 

 264 

J. Peters stated that it has hard for some people to hear on Zoom or make their comments 265 

heard or understand the technology. 266 

 267 

J. Mook asked what “at your own risk” meant.  268 

 269 

E. Clements clarified that if the waiver was not approved then the Building Department 270 

would not issue a building permit to build of the apartment. If the waiver was approved 271 

the applicant can receive the permit and begin work, however the 30 day appeal period 272 

still stands. If the proposal is appealed then the applicant runs the risk of having to undo 273 

construction work that has already taken place. 274 

 275 

A. Wentzell again stated that he understood the risk and wanted to move forward with 276 

the waiver. 277 

 278 

Motion to approve waiver from the 30 day waiting period – Motioned by D. Petry; 279 

seconded by D. Cleveland – J. Peters opposed – motion passed 280 

 281 

Motion to approve the application – Motioned by M. Hartnett; seconded by D. 282 

Cleveland – motion passed unanimously 283 

 284 

 285 

c. File PB2020:019 – Proposed site plan for two 780 square foot ground mounted solar 286 

arrays, Map 9 Lot 70-46, 33 Twiss Lane, Applicant/Owner Piyush & Nimisha Patel, 287 

Zoned R&A.  Application Acceptance & Public Hearing.  288 

 289 

M. Fougere explained that this was a proposal for site plan approval and a Conditional 290 

Use Permit to allow for the installation of two 840 square foot ground mounted solar 291 

arrays. The entire system will consist of 72 solar panels and have a total footprint of 292 

approximately 1,700 SF. Each array will be 9’3’’ tall which is below the 10’ limit. The 293 

proposed system is located on the northwest corner of the property behind the house and 294 

pool area. The proposed system is approximately 300’ from the Twiss Lane right of way. 295 

The proposal includes additional privacy fencing that will extend easterly from the pool 296 

area. Staff issues include the Board wanting to conduct a site walk and additional 297 

screening along the east property line to screen the array from the abutting neighbor’s 298 

property. The applicant is also requesting a waiver from an engineered site plan. 299 

 300 

B. Moseley noted that an issue arose that one of the abutters of this project was not 301 

properly notified of the hearing. 302 

 303 



              July 21, 2020 

7 

 

E. Clements stated that was correct but he had talked to the abutter in question and 304 

received in writing that the abutter waived his right to proper notification and had no 305 

issue with the application proceeding as scheduled. 306 

 307 

Motion to accept application – Motioned by D. Cleveland; seconded by M. Hartnett – 308 

motioned passed unanimously 309 

 310 

Piyush Patel, owner and applicant of 33 Twiss Lane stated that the reason they went with 311 

two solar arrays was that there was not enough room to one array with 72 panels. They 312 

could not go with more than four rows because that would make the array taller than 313 

10’and easily visible from Twiss Lane. 314 

 315 

D. Petry asked about the profile of the array and noted that the visual impact of the array 316 

from Twiss Lane seemed minor. 317 

 318 

J. Peters asked about the abutter to the east as there did not seem to be much screening 319 

along the common lot line. 320 

 321 

B. Moseley asked if the applicant had discussed the proposal with his neighbor. 322 

 323 

P. Patel responded that he had discussed the array with his neighbor and he stated that 324 

his neighbor was perfectly fine with his proposal.  325 

 326 

D. Petry raised a concern about while the current owner of the property might be fine 327 

with the array, a future owner may have an issue with it. 328 

 329 

J. Peters suggested a row of evergreens along the property line as screening. 330 

 331 

B. Moseley noted that younger plants could be installed since they would have plenty of 332 

time to grow and fill in as the current abutter does not have an issue with the proposal. 333 

 334 

R. Hardy asked if the array would be installed between the two red boxes depicted on 335 

the image. 336 

 337 

P. Patel stated that was correct. 338 

 339 

R. Hardy stated that D. Petry’s initial statement regarding the profile of the array was 340 

misinformed and the overall profile was larger than initially stated. He stated that a site 341 

walk would be appropriate and additional landscape for screening should be considered. 342 

 343 

B. Ming asked about the abutters to the rear of the subject property and if the property 344 

owner could see his neighbors during the winter. 345 

 346 

P. Patel stated that they are mainly evergreen trees to the rear of the property but they are 347 

tall so they do not provide significant screening at ground level. He did note that his 348 

neighbor behind him is at a higher elevation so the evergreens provide better screening 349 

from the neighbor’s point of view. 350 

 351 

Public Hearing 352 

 353 



              July 21, 2020 

8 

 

Joe Garruba; 28 Winchester Drive – made further out of order comments unrelated to the 354 

application. 355 

 356 

Public Hearing closed 357 

 358 

E. Clements explained to the applicant how to simulate the pitch and footprint of the 359 

array as well as other things to set up prior to the site walk. 360 

 361 

Motion to continue to August 18, 3030 – Motioned by D. Petry; seconded by D. 362 

Cleveland – motion passed unanimously  363 

 364 

 365 

d. File PB2020:020 – Proposed amendment to an approved subdivision plan to allow 366 

intrusion into a required 100 foot wide buffer along street, Map 20 Lot 23-2, Nartoff 367 

Road, Owner M. Gilbert/M. Hollis, Trustees of Tringoson Trust, Applicant White Birch 368 

Builders of Merr. Inc., Zoned R&A.   Application Acceptance & Public Hearing. 369 

 370 

M. Fougere explained that this application is requesting an amendment to an approved 371 

subdivision from 1999 that stipulated a 100’ no cut buffer along Nartoff Road. He noted 372 

that the Planning Board at the time was concerns about drainage impacts from the 373 

subdivision onto Nartoff Road. He stated that the three adjoining lots in the subdivision 374 

have been constructed according to the approved plan. The applicant is requesting 375 

intrude 50’ into the 100’ no cut buffer to install a septic system into the area. The well 376 

would then be installed behind the house. He also noted that Nartoff Road is not a scenic 377 

road and does not normally require a 100’ setback. The applicant has noted in this 378 

request that there are homes that are closer to the street. Going back to the record it was 379 

clear that this setback was included to reduce drainage concerns along the subdivision. 380 

 381 

Motion to accept application – Motioned by D. Petry; seconded by D. Cleveland – 382 

motion passed unanimously 383 

 384 

Robert Perodi, Attorney and applicant’s representative stated that they are asking to 385 

change a note on the subdivision plan from 1999 as it relates to the subject property. He 386 

noted that this lot was also part of a subdivision in 1988 that did not contain any 387 

additional setback requirements or slope easement. He stated that the minutes from the 388 

1999 subdivision approval do not make any specific mention of the subject property. He 389 

stated that the drainage concerns were for lots 26-79-2, 26-79-3, and 26-79-4 but not for 390 

the subject property. He noted that the subject property is relatively flat along the road 391 

and drops off at the back. The minutes state that the Planning Board’s goal was to deal 392 

with drainage and maintain the character of the road. He stated that there was no 393 

drainage issue in respect to the subject property. 394 

 395 

R. Perodi could not find a specific mechanism to change a plan note for just a single lot 396 

on a subdivision and recommended they use a form of waiver. He stated that strict 397 

conformity would produce a hardship in the case of the subject property and a waiver 398 

could be issued as long as the development followed the spirit of the regulations.  399 

 400 

R. Perodi stated that the reason for the 100’ buffer was the drainage issues with the other 401 

three lots but since the subject property is part of the same subdivision it is subject to the 402 

subdivision conditions. He also stated that the character of the road was the other reason 403 

for the 100’ no cut buffer. He states that the minutes discuss a tree canopy along this 404 



              July 21, 2020 

9 

 

portion of the road. The applicant is proposing to keep the front 50’ as a no cut buffer, 405 

keep the location of the driveway, and install the detention basin as shown on the plan. 406 

The development plan for this lot is to install the well in the back and the septic system 407 

in the front. This is due to the slope in the back of the lot. He also noted that the abutting 408 

property owner to the north is supportive of the new house not being parallel with their 409 

own home. 410 

 411 

R. Perodi stated that there is a hardship that is unique to this lot and what the applicant is 412 

proposing meets the spirit and intent of the subdivision conditions and therefore this 413 

request should be allowed. He did observe that on note # 12 of the subdivision plan that 414 

the building box was not affected by the 100’ no cut buffer. He wondered if that implied 415 

that you could in fact build in the no cut area. 416 

 417 

D. Petry stated that you could not build in the no cut buffer but that the building box 418 

could fit into the lot and meet the other Zoning requirements to make the lot a buildable 419 

lot. He also stated that he has not heard demonstrated hardship as to why this request 420 

should be allowed. He asked why the applicant cannot build as approved. 421 

 422 

R. Perodi stated that it was due to significant slope located at the rear of the property. 423 

 424 

D. Petry asked why this slope wasn’t identified as being a hindrance to developing the 425 

lot when the subdivision was first approved.  426 

 427 

R. Hardy noted that the drainage was based on a 10-year storm event and if the applicant 428 

wishes the Board to reconsider this then the drainage of the lot needs to assessed based 429 

on current drainage regulations which take into account a 25-year storm event. He also 430 

noted that the minimization of vegetation loss was stated multiple times in the minutes 431 

and as such was a significant concern of the Board at that time and the developer agreed 432 

to. He also stated that every other builder in this subdivision did not have an issue 433 

adhering to the subdivision conditions. 434 

 435 

B. Moseley noted that R. Hardy and D. Petry were on the Board at the time this 436 

subdivision was approved. 437 

 438 

R. Perodi stated that there are only lots on the road that have vegetation removed within 439 

100’ and some of them may be part of this subdivision. 440 

 441 

M. Hartnett asked where 16 Nartoff Road was in relation to the subject property and 442 

where his well was located in relation to the proposed septic system. 443 

 444 

E. Clements stated that 16 Nartoff Road was map/lot 26-2 which was right across the 445 

street from the subject property. 446 

 447 

D. Cleveland noted that the footprint of the house in the subdivision plan is shown to be 448 

in the middle of the lot where the applicant’s proposal is to move it forward into the 100’ 449 

no cut buffer and he does not see any reason for why the house cannot be built where it 450 

was originally proposed in the subdivision plan. He also noted that the Board has 451 

waivers for a reason and there has been many comments in past applications regarding 452 

waivers and whether they are needed or there is a hardship. He worries about granting a 453 

waiver without a demonstrated hardship and the bad precedent that would set. 454 

 455 



              July 21, 2020 

10 

 

D. Petry asked to clarify the hardship that necessitates the waiver request. 456 

 457 

Dennis Sabollis, White Birch Builders of Merrimack, NH, the applicant, stated that the 458 

initial subdivision of this area that included a lot to the south did not have the 100’ no 459 

cut buffer. The current subdivision plan was part of a lot line revision and subdivision 460 

plan had the 100’ no cut buffer added to it because of the drainage. He noted that the 461 

drainage issue is caused by lot 26-79-3 to the north where the house is 40’ higher than 462 

the road. He stated that the lot 26-76-4 cut 40’ into the no cut buffer. He stated that there 463 

was a subdivision approved up the road that they owner cut to within 10’ of the road and 464 

that he was just looking to move the house up a bit closer to the road so there would be 465 

room to install a pool in the back yard. 466 

 467 

B. Moseley stated that D. Petry’s question was about the hardship on the property and 468 

that his question still has not been addressed. He noted that it seems that the applicant’s 469 

hardship is that he cannot build a swimming pool behind the house. 470 

 471 

R. Perodi stated that the current layout of the lot does not allow for a backyard as the 472 

rear of the lot slopes downward. He stated that the hardship is that they want a back 473 

yard. He stated that the spirit and intent of the 100’ no cut buffer was for drainage and a 474 

tree canopy along the road. He believes that the applicant’s proposal meets the spirit and 475 

intent. 476 

 477 

D. Petry asked about the detention basin shown on the subdivision plan for the subject 478 

property. 479 

 480 

D. Sabollis stated that it would be built according to plan. 481 

 482 

D. Petry stated that it was not shown on the applicant’s proposed development plan for 483 

the lot. 484 

 485 

D. Sabollis stated that his proposed development plan was conceptual but the detention 486 

basin would be installed where it was shown on the subdivision plan. 487 

 488 

R. Perodi stated that besides the location of the house and septic system the lot would be 489 

developed according to the subdivision plan. The driveway and detention basin would be 490 

in the same location. 491 

 492 

D. Petry asked if staff went out to the area. 493 

 494 

E. Clements stated that he and M. Fougere went out to the area and took photos of the 495 

lots in the subdivision.  496 

 497 

E. Clements described lot 26-79-3 as having a steep diagonal driveway with a small 498 

detention area along the street. Installing the driveway and detention area required that a 499 

significant amount of trees be cleared within the 100’ no cut area but the disturbance 500 

was allowed only for the purposes of installing the driveway and detention area. He 501 

continued to show photos of the lots in the subdivision, all of which were heavily 502 

wooded except for the driveways. 503 

 504 

D. Petry stated that with the exception of lot 26-79-3, all the lots are in compliance with 505 

the 100’ no cut buffer. 506 



              July 21, 2020 

11 

 

Public Hearing 507 

 508 

Bill Stearns; 15 Nartoff Road – stated that he talked with the builder today and they 509 

prefer the house on the subject lot be built closer to the road so that it is not parallel with 510 

their own home. 511 

 512 

Joshua Becker; 282 Broad Street – asked how much relief the applicant was looking for. 513 

He also stated that the applicant had a good reputation who would not propose anything 514 

that would be detrimental to the neighborhood or the Town so he was in favor of the 515 

application. 516 

 517 

M. Fougere stated that the applicant was seeking approximately 50’ of relief out of the 518 

100’. 519 

 520 

E. Clements stated that he did not have a scale with him but estimated that the house 521 

itself was encroaching 20’ – 30’ into the no cut buffer.  522 

 523 

D. Sabollis estimated the house would be around 65’ – 70’ from the road. They wanted 524 

to clear to create a front yard. 525 

 526 

E. Clements clarified that the applicant was intending to clear the interior 50’ of trees but 527 

leave 50’ of trees from the road. 528 

 529 

Joe Garruba; 28 Winchester Drive – made out of order comments unrelated to the 530 

application. 531 

 532 

Steve Ferguson; 16 Nartoff Road – stated that his property was directly across from the 533 

subject property. He noted that he some concerns related to the proximity of the new 534 

house in relation to his own home but considered 50’ of vegetative screening to be 535 

adequate. He stated that he was concerned about the drainage but believed that wasn’t a 536 

big issue since it was discussed.  537 

 538 

R. Perodi reiterated that this was a unique request and he was using the waiver 539 

mechanism as a way to analyze the applicant’s proposal. He noted that there were two 540 

ways to look at the request, one was hardship and the other was relief that carried out the 541 

spirit and intent of the subdivision condition. He again stated that this proposal meets the 542 

spirit and intent of the subdivision condition. 543 

 544 

Public Hearing closed 545 

 546 

J. Peters stated that using NRPC mapping tools the other lots in the subdivision adhere to 547 

the 100’ no cut buffer. 548 

 549 

D. Petry stated that hypothetically, the request to cut 50’ into the buffer is approved, 550 

what happens when the Town has drainage issues on Narotff Road? He noted that the 551 

proposal was to take a 50’ x 200’ swath of dense vegetation and cutting it into a lawn 552 

and a house. That removes part of the erosion control that was anticipated in the 553 

subdivision plan. 554 

 555 

D. Cleveland stated that a site walk would help the Board better understand the 556 

conditions of the lot. 557 



              July 21, 2020 

12 

 

 558 

E. Clements stated that when the subdivision was designed the plan called for a 559 

detention basin on the subject property by the road. This would indicate that there were 560 

concerns of drainage coming from this lot onto Nartoff Road. 561 

 562 

R. Hardy stated that if the Board changes the conditions for one lot on a subdivision that 563 

everyone else was able to comply with he would have issue with that. He stated that the 564 

conceptual plan submitted is not specific enough for the Board to make an informed 565 

decision. He asked why they had to clear the whole front for the septic. He also stated 566 

that the detention basin on the subject property was designed for a 10-year storm event 567 

but the lot would need to meet current drainage regulations if it was to be modified. He 568 

recommends that the Town Engineer review the applicant’s proposal once it has been 569 

submitted. 570 

 571 

J. Peters stated that he still does not understand a hardship for this proposal. 572 

 573 

B. Moseley stated that the applicant wants enough of a back yard to install a swimming 574 

pool. 575 

 576 

J. Peters stated that there is land in the rear of the lot with the approved subdivision 577 

layout. 578 

 579 

The Board requested the following items be identified for the site walk: 580 

� New and old locations of the proposed house 581 

� 50’ and 100’ setback 582 

� Detention basin 583 

� Septic system 584 

� Driveway centerline 585 

� Location of 16 Nartoff’s well 586 

 587 

Detailed site development plans and drainage that meets current regulation was also 588 

required. 589 

 590 

The applicant acknowledged that he understood what the Board was requesting. 591 

 592 

Motion to continue to the August 18, 2020 meeting – motioned by D. Cleveland; 593 

seconded D. Petry – motion passed unanimously  594 

 595 

 596 

e. File PB2020:021 – Proposed amendment to an approved site plan to construct an 8 x 12 597 

cooler adjacent to existing Café, Map 51 Lot 31, 9 Market Place, Owner/Applicant 598 

Michael Buckley, Zoned A/B Agriculture-Business.   Application Acceptance and 599 

Public Hearing. 600 

 601 

M. Fougere stated that this proposal was to expand the building footprint to allow for the 602 

installation of an 8’x12’ walk-in cooler that will be used for food storage for the café. 603 

The cooler will be located on the south side of the building. There are approximately 51 604 

parking stalls within 150’ of the building and no additional parking will be necessary. 605 

 606 



              July 21, 2020 

13 

 

Motion to accept application – motioned by J. Peters; seconded by M. Hartnett – C. 607 

Rogers abstained then recused himself as he is an abutter – motion passed 608 

 609 

R. Hardy was appointed to vote in C. Rogers’ place. 610 

 611 

Ian Buckley, VP Michael Timothy’s Dining Group, applicant’s representative explained 612 

that the cooler would be located on the south side of the building and would be enclosed 613 

by clapboard siding and shingle roof. The new construction will match the façade of the 614 

existing structure. 615 

 616 

J. Peters asked how the cooler will be accessed. 617 

 618 

I. Buckley stated that it will be accessed through the interior of the restaurant, they will 619 

be cutting a door way. Most of the current seating along the wall will be removed. He 620 

noted that due to COVID-19 most of the interior seating is being removed. They will be 621 

installing a fish and meat counter as well as specialty items. The cooler will provide 622 

storage for the fish and meat counter. 623 

 624 

B. Ming asked about a walkway or sidewalk along the outside of the building where the 625 

proposed expansion will go. 626 

 627 

I. Buckley stated that was correct and the cooler will be installed over the sidewalk. 628 

 629 

B. Ming stated that then the sidewalk will no longer be useful. 630 

 631 

I. Buckley stated that the small portion of sidewalk would no longer be connected but 632 

the sidewalks located by the entrance and exits at the front of the building will be un-633 

affected but the sidewalk on either side of the cooler will remain.  634 

 635 

D. Cleveland asked if the café owned the building or leased it. 636 

 637 

I. Buckley stated that they owned the building. He also noted that there are two other 638 

owners in the condo association that own the remainder of the buildings and the café has 639 

written support for this proposal. 640 

 641 

Public Hearing 642 

 643 

C. Rogers; 3 Broad Street – asked about where the parents que up to drop the students 644 

off at the pre-school and raised concerns regarding losing a travel lane around the 645 

building. 646 

 647 

M. Fougere noted that there are parking spaces between the travel lanes and the 648 

proposed expansion so a travel lane will not be lost. 649 

 650 

C. Rogers asked about an area to the south west of the building and if the parents still 651 

que up around the building for the pre-school. 652 

 653 

I. Buckley stated that it was a mulched garden area with an underground propane tank. 654 

He also stated that when they bought the building two years ago and converted it to the 655 

café the pre-school change their line up area. This is because the café receives all of their 656 

deliveries from the rear of the building. 657 



              July 21, 2020 

14 

 

 658 

Public Hearing closed 659 

 660 

J. Peters asked why they were not just expanding the existing walk in coolers but adding 661 

a new one in a new location. 662 

 663 

I. Buckley stated that it was due to the location of the meat and fish counter as that is 664 

where they will be using the product that is stored in the cooler. 665 

 666 

E. Clements asked about the location of deliveries and how they accessed the building. 667 

 668 

I. Buckley responded by saying that there was access to the kitchen area from the north 669 

east corner of the building so losing a portion of the sidewalk will not affect product 670 

delivery. 671 

 672 

M. Hartnett asked if there was any customer parking behind the building. 673 

 674 

I. Buckley stated that while the area is not striped or designated, it is mainly used for 675 

employee parking and they have not had customers park back there as there is plenty of 676 

parking available in front and on the side of the building. 677 

 678 

M. Fougere noted that this property is located within the Historic District and the 679 

expansion will need HDC approval. 680 

 681 

Motion to approve application – motioned by D. Cleveland; seconded by J. Peters – 682 

motion passed 683 

 684 

 685 

7. OTHER BUSINESS 686 

 687 

D. Petry noted that while this meeting experienced some technical difficulties it was 688 

still held in a legal manner as it was televised and shown on live stream through the 689 

Town website. Both of these mediums did not have the audio issues that the Zoom 690 

platform had and as such the entire meeting was accessible to residents. 691 

 692 

7.  ADJOURN 693 

       There being no further business, D. Cleveland presented a non-debatable motion to 694 

adjourn.  Motion seconded by. M. Hartnett and unanimously approved.  Meeting adjourns at 9:53 695 

PM. 696 

      Respectfully submitted, 697 

      Evan J. Clements,  698 

Assistant Planner   699 


